## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ALBERT JOINER, JR.

## APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

#### APPELLEE

## NUMBER 2009-CA-00222-COA

## BRIEF OF APPELLANT

### APPEAL

## CIRCUIT COURT, LAFAYETTE COUNTY

i

JAMES D. MINOR, SR. POST OFFICE BOX 1670 OXFORD, MISSISSIPPI 38655-1670 (662) 607-1846 MISSISSIPPI BAR NUMBER

### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ALBERT JOINER, JR.

APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

#### CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. Whether Albert Joiner, Jr. was properly charged under Mississippi's Habitual offender Statute;

II. Whether Albert Joiner, Jr. was properly sentenced under Mississippi's Habitual offender Statute;

III. Whether Albert Joiner, Jr. was denied the effective assistance of Counsel

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Grand Jury of Lafayette County in its October 2007 term or prior thereto, returned a two count indictment against Appellant charging him with Count I, "Felony Flight", Miss. Code Ann. §97-9-72, as amended and Count II, "Felon in Possession of Deadly Weapon" (Excerpts page 3. Miss. Code Ann. 1972 § 97-37-5, as amended as a habitual offender. The Appellant signed a petition to enter a plea of guilty on October 18, 2007. The petition was to enter a plea to "Felony Flight" (Excerpts page 5). The Court accepted Appellant's plea of guilty to the charge pursuant to § 99-19-81, Mississippi Code Annotated of 1972, as amended. Appellant was sentenced to a term of four (4) years in an institution to be designated by the Mississippi Department of Corrections (Excerpts page 26). This sentence was to run consecutive to an additional charge for "Strong Arm Robbery" entered and accepted at the same time.

On or about the 21<sup>st</sup> of May, 2008, the Petitioner, <u>pro se</u> filed a petition for post-conviction collateral relief in the Circuit Court of Lafayette County (Excerpts page 27) challenging and moving the Court to vacate and set aside the invalid habitual offender portion of his sentence in this case based on the following grounds:

The court erred in sentencing Petitioner as a habitual offender in Cause Number LK-07-399 upon his plea of guilty to Count One of indictment charging him with

felony flight. Where he was not indicted as a habitual offender pursuant to MCA 99-19-81.

Count II of the Indictment that had charged him as a habitual offender was dismissed as a part of the plea bargain.

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

# I. Whether Albert Joiner, Jr. was properly charged under Mississippi's Habitual offender Statute

Appellant was charged in a two-count indictment. The first count was for felony flight and did not allege his being a habitual offender. The second count was for the possession of a deadly weapon, a butcher knife. This count charged Appellant to be a habitual offender without stating which habitual statute. Apparently in plea negotiations the second count was dismissed and Appellant was to plead guilty to being a habitual offender pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 99-99-81 in Count I.

Appellant could not be sentenced as a habitual because the count to which he pled made no reference to his being a habitual offender. This was a plain error.

# II. Whether Albert Joiner, Jr. was properly sentenced under Mississippi's Habitual offender Statute

Assuming that the indictment properly charged the Appellant as a habitual offender, there was no documentation or evidence submitted as to the existence of any prior conviction. This sentence was pursuant to a plea agreement but Appellant was never questioned about his alleged convictions.

Assuming that the indictment properly charged the Appellant as a habitual offender, there was no documentation or evidence submitted as to the existence of any prior conviction. This sentence was pursuant to a plea agreement but Appellant was never questioned about his convictions.

# III. Whether Albert Joiner, Jr. was denied the effective assistance of Counsel

Appellant raises this argument but concedes that this argument would be moot if his grounds above stated are valid. However he alleges that his attorney should have objected to the failure to prove the existence of alleged past felonies. This performance was deficient and further if his plea constituted a waiver, the performance of his attorney did prejudice him. In addition there were plain errors present that may be addressed by this Court.

#### ARGUMENT

I. Whether Albert Joiner, Jr. was properly charged under Mississippi's Habitual offender Statute;

In his pro se petition for post conviction collateral relief the Appellant submitted as one of his grounds that:

The court erred in sentencing Petitioner as a habitual offender in Cause Number LK-07-399 upon his plea of guilty to Count One of indictment charging him with felony flight. Where he was not indicted as a habitual offender pursuant to MCA 99-19-81.

In this case, Appellant, as defendant in the trial court was charged in a two-count indictment. In Count I he was charged with flight for fleeing officers who had probable cause to believe he had committed a crime and who made known their desire for Appellant to stop by visual and audible signals. Count II of the indictment charged the possession of a weapon, "to wit: a butcher knife, he Albert Joiner, Jr., had been previously convicted of the following felonies, to wit: ...". There followed a recitation of five (5) alleged felonies.

On or about October 18, 2007 Appellant entered a guilty plea to Count I, the flight charge. That plea was accepted and the court sentenced him to four (4) years "in an institution to be designated by the Department of Corrections <u>also as a</u> <u>habitual offender</u>, …" (Plea transcript, page 14, Excerpts page 24). (emphasis added by Appellant)

In the plea proceeding the following exchange occurred:

BY THE COURT: Do you still want to go forward and plead guilty on these two counts?

A. Yes, sir.

## (DEFENDANT CONFERS WITH COUNSEL)

BY MR. WALL: Your Honor, he's asking about Count 2 to the 399, your Honor, and I believe the prosecution has dismissed that.

BY MR. TROUT: We have dismissed it.

BY THE COURT: LK07-399 has two counts. The second count is felon in possession of a deadly weapon, that being the butcher knife that the prosecutor was referring to. And that's going to be dismissed. You've plead guilty in 399 only to Count 1, felony fleeing.

A. Thank you, sir.

BY THE COURT: Any other questions?

A. No sir.

(Plea transcript at pages 12-13 Excerpts 22)

The Uniform Circuit and County Court Rules, Rule 11.03

entitled "Enhancement of Punishment" provides in part:

1. The indictment must include both the principal charge and a charge of previous convictions. The indictment must allege with particularity the nature of description of the offenses constituting the previous convictions, the state or federal jurisdiction of any previous conviction, and date of judgment.

Appellant shows unto the Court that he could not have been sentenced as a habitual offender under Count I since that count made no reference to any habitual status nor had the indictment

been amended, Uniform Circuit and County Court Rules, Rule 7.09; Adams v. State, 772 So. 2d 1010, (Miss. 2000).

There was no charge under § 99-19-81 subsequent to the dismissal of Count II and there is no reference to that statute in Count I. This indictment would not have "fully notif[ied] the defendant of the nature and cause of the accusation". Mississippi Uniform Circuit and County Court Rules, Rule 7.06.

# II. Whether Albert Joiner, Jr. was properly sentenced under Mississippi's Habitual offender Statute;

Assuming the validity of the indictment, the State would still have to set forth evidence of the prior convictions. In Short v. State 420 So. 2d 929 (Miss. Ct.App. 2006), the defendant claimed that the lower court had improperly sentenced him as a habitual offender. Here the criminal defendant, Appellant, was apparently sentenced under § 99-19-81 Miss Code Ann 1972 as amended which states:

Every person convicted in this state of a felony who shall have been convicted twice previously of any felony or federal crime upon charges separately brought and arising out of separate incidents at different times and who shall have been sentenced to separate terms of one (1) year or more in any state and/or federal penal institution, whether in this state or elsewhere, shall be sentenced to the maximum term of imprisonment prescribed for such felony, and such sentence shall not be reduced or suspended nor shall such person be eligible for parole or probation.

The burden of proof of all elements of a crime and habitual offender status is upon the State. In Vince v. State, 844 So.2d 510, 518 (¶ 25) (Miss Ct. App 2003) this court said, citing McIlwain v State, 700 So. 2d 586, 589 (¶ 13) Miss 1997):

We have regularly upheld sentences under the habitual criminal statutes where the proof of prior convictions was made by certified copies of the judgments of conviction. This accords with the basic principle that the best evidence of a conviction is the judgment of conviction.

Short, 844 So. 2d at 518 ( $\P$  25). The Court went on to observe in that same paragraph that prosecutors would do well to not use "remote and less reliable methods of proof".

This Court in Vince V. State went further saying that the State is not limited only to certified copies. Pen packs showing the defendant's prior convictions would also be sufficient, citing Frazier v. State, 907 So.2d 985, 991 (¶ 16) (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). In addition the defendant's in-court admission of prior felony convictions has been found sufficient to support the habitual offender status, citing Sanders v.State, 786 So.2d 1078, 1082 (¶ 14) (Miss. ct. App. 2001).

However, in Evans v. State, 988 So. 2d 404 (Miss, Ct. App. 2008) this court did observe that the defendant in that case had pled guilty and therefore a lesser degree of proof was required. This court said:

The trial court must have before it "enough [evidence] that the court may say with confidence the prosecution

could prove the accused guilty of the crime charged [.] Corley v. State, 585 So.2d 765, 767 (Miss. 1991). Further, a defendant's own admission may suffice for the factual basis. Id.

988 So. 2d. at 406 ( $\P$  10). This Court also reproduced some of the plea Colloquy in that case:

TRIAL COURT: Tell me what--you have several, three prior convictions, felony convictions that I am aware of. Are there more than that?

EVANS: Yes sir.

TRIAL COURT: How many total?

EVANS: Your Honor, I really don't know, to be honest.

TRIAL COURT: Do you have other felony charges pending other than what we're taking care of here today?

EVANS: No Sir, this is it.

988 So. 2d. at 406 ( $\P$  11). This Court also then added that the trial court in that case then questioned the defendant as to whether each prior conviction charged in the indictment was true. He responded in the affirmative.

In the case presently before the Court the applicable portion of the plea colloquy reads as follows:

TRIAL COURT: And in each of these two cases also are you telling me that you realize and understand that you qualify for habitual offender status and that you're gong to be sentenced, if the Court accepts your guilty plea, as what we call a lesser habitual offender which will mean that the time that you receive you will have to serve day-for-day? Dou you understand that?

JOINER: Yes, Sir. (Plea transcript, page 7, Excerpts page 17)

A comparison of the pleas Colloquy here with the cited case shows that this case differs. There was no evidence given relative to Appellant's prior convictions. Additionally, the Appellant himself was never questioned about them specifically and individually and made no admissions. There is no evidence as to whether he was twice previously convicted, that the charges were separately brought and arising out of the separate incidents at different times or his sentences. In Short there was no proof presented consistent with the requirements of *Miss*. *Code Ann 1972 § 99-19-81 as amended*. Here the court could only make an educated guess as to the existence of the prior convictions and the sentences imposed.

# III. Whether Albert Joiner, Jr. was denied the effective assistance of Counsel

In a companion case Appellant has alleged ineffective assistance of counsel. This claim was based upon his trial counsel's allowing the plea to go forward without proof or evidence of prior convictions to support enhanced punishment. Under Vince v. State cited above this Court's prior rulings make it clear that if his sentencing was flawed then his ineffective assistance of counsel claim is moot. This court in the Vince State case said:

Our decision to reverse and render on the propriety of sentencing Vince as a habitual offender renders moot another aspect of Vince's claim that the received ineffective assistance of counsel. Vince argued in his brief that his attorney's failure to oppose the introduction of the NCIC report on hearsay grounds rendered counsel's performance ineffective when measured against the level of competency guarantee him by the Sixth Amendment. Having decided the question of sentencing as a habitual offender in Vince's favor on other grounds, we need not consider that claim on the merits.

Vince v. State, 844 So.2d 510, 518 (¶ 26).

However, to preserve this ground should any waiver of rights be found in the plea by Appellant he does show unto the Court that Appellant was sentenced as a habitual offender with insufficient evidence being presented to support the sentence therefor.

A criminal defendant with charges of the nature faced by Appellant has a right to counsel as granted by the State and Federal constitutions. *Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U. S. 335, 23* S. Ct 792, 91 L. Ed 2d 799 (1963); Argersinger v. Hamlin, 497 U. S. 25, 92 C. Ct. 2006, 32 L. Ed. 2d 530 (1972).

Appellant here was appointed an attorney and later had retained counsel.<sup>1</sup> In 1984 the United States Supreme Court handed down a decision in the case of *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U. S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984). This decision set forth the standards to be applied to judge the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Appellant had just recently retained counsel but is submitted that the time of hiring of counsel does not diminish the responsibilities of set forth for affective assistance on a point of law.

effectiveness of counsel. This test is a two pronged one adopted by this Court in Alexander v. State, 605 So. 2d 1170, 1173 (Miss. 1992) and several other cases. Strickland requires (1) the showing of the deficiency of counsel's performance and (2) that it was sufficient to constitute prejudice to the defendant. The burden of demonstrating that both prongs have been met falls upon the defendant. Leatherwood v. State,473 So. @d 964,968 (Miss. 1984), reversed in part, affirmed in part 539 So. 2d 1378 (Miss. 1989). There is a strong but rebuttable presumption that counsel's performance falls within the broad spectrum of reasonable professional assistance. McQuarter v. State, 574 So. 2d 685, 687 (Miss. 1990). Appellant here must also show that there is a reasonable probability that but for this counsels actions he would have received a different result in his sentencing before the trial court, Nicolaou v. State, 612 So, 2d 1080, 1086 (Miss. 1992).

The record before this Court shows that there was no evidence of the existence of the felonies as charged by the indictment nor any admission by Appellant to the existence and validity of the felonies alleged to have been committed. The record fails to show any objection to the proceedings below.

The Appellant has therefore shown that counsel should have seen to it that all elements of the crime or elements to support a sentence should have been shown by the State. Secondly, if

objection had been made Appellant could not have been sentenced as a habitual offender under the facts in the record. The facts show the ineffective assistance of counsel, *Strickland* v. *Washington, supra.* 

Both the State, Article 3 Section 14 of the Mississippi Constitution and the United States Constitution Amendment 14, would guarantee the Appellant Due Process and the Equal Protection of the laws. The Court below erred in not setting aside the habitual designation in Appellant's sentence.

Counsel for Albert Joiner, Jr. did not object to the sentencing but such an omission by the lower court was plain error, Gray v. State, 549 So.2d 1316 (Miss. 1989). The omission was a "manifest Miscarriage of Justice" affecting "Substantive/fundamental rights", Lawrence v. State, 928 So.2d 894, 897 (¶ 10) (Miss. Ct. App 2005). In order for Appellant to prevail this court would need to find:

(1) that there was error ...; (2) that the error resulted in a manifest miscarriage of justice; and (3) that the error affected one of ... [Joiner's] substantive or fundamental rights.

928 So. 2d at 897 ( $\P$  10). Albert Joiner would submit: (1) that failure to prove the prior convictions was error; (2) the failure created a miscarriage, a habitual sentence, without the factual basis; and (3) that Appellant's liberty

after serving his sentence is a substantive or fundamental right.

## CONCLUSION

Because of the failure to include a charge in the indictment as a habitual offender and the failure to allege the conviction along with the failure to prove or to obtain admissions to the prior felonies alleged this case should be remanded for re-sentencing pursuant to *Ellis v. State, 520 So.* 2d 595 (Miss. 1988). The State "has being given one fair opportunity to offer whatever proof it could assemble", *DeBussi* v. State, 453 So. 2d 1030. 1033 (Miss. 1984) citing Burks v. United States, 437 U. S. 1, 15-16, 985 S. Ct. 2141, 2149, 57 L. Ed 2d 1 (1978). Furthermore, the State should therefore be prohibited from introducing any new evidence to establish Appellants status as a habitual offender, to do otherwise would be a violation of the Mississippi Constitution of 1890, Article 3, Section 22 and United States Constitution Amendment Five.

James D. Minor, Sr. Post Office Box 1670 Oxford, MS 38655 (662) 607-1846 MSB #