### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ALBERT JOINER, JR.

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

NO. 2009-CA-0222

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

#### BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

## APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: LISA L. BLOUNT

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

##

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the denial of Albert Joiner, Jr.'s Petition for Post-Conviction Relief and Amendment to Petition for Post-Conviction Collateral Relief from the Circuit Court of Lafayette County, Mississippi, Honorable Andrew K. Howorth presiding.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On September 24, 2007, the Grand Jury of Lafayette County indicted Albert Joiner, Jr., on one count of felony flight and one count of felon in possession of a deadly weapon, in Circuit Court Cause Number LK07-399. On October 23, 2007, the grand jury indicted Joiner, in Circuit Court Cause Number LK07-133, for armed robbery as a habitual offender under Miss. Code Ann. § 97-19-83, which subjected him to life without parole.

On October 18, 2007, pursuant to a plea agreement, Joiner entered a guilty plea to felony

flight, as a lesser habitual, in Cause Number LK07-399, and to strong armed robbery, as a lesser habitual, in Cause Number LK07-133. In exchange for the guilty plea the state agreed to dismiss the felon in possession of a deadly weapon, reduce the armed robbery to strong armed robbery and reduced the lifetime habitual status under Mississippi Code Annotated section 99-19-83 to the lesser habitual under Mississippi Code Annotated section 99-19-81. The State also recommended that Joiner receive four (4) years incarceration on the felony fleeing and a consecutive fifteen (15) years on the strong armed robbery, both as a lesser habitual.

In the subject cause, the court dismissed the felon in possession charge and ordered the "felony fleeing lifetime habitual" charge reduced to "felony fleeing maximum habitual". (CP Supp. Vol. 1, 2). In Cause Number LK07-133, the court reduced the armed robbery lifetime habitual to strong armed robbery, lesser habitual. After thoroughly questioning Joiner, the circuit judge accepted Joiner's pleas and sentenced him in accordance with the State's recommendations. (CP Supp. Vol. 1, pages 4-25).

In the petition and during the plea hearing, Joiner acknowledged his guilt of the crimes charged, as well as the constitutional rights he would be waiving by pleading guilty; he further acknowledged that he was pleading guilty as a habitual offender, and that he knew the possible sentences he might receive. (CP Supp. Vol. 1, pages 5, 10,11, 16, 17).

On May 22, 2008, Joiner filed a Petition for Post-Conviction Collateral Relief (CP 3-40). On July 14, 2008, Joiner filed an Amendment to Petition for Post-Conviction Collateral Relief. (CP 41-50). The request for relief was summarily denied in an order dated January 15, 2009. (CP 51). Feeling aggrieved, Joiner appealed.

#### **ISSUES**

- I. Whether Joiner was properly charged as a habitual offender;
- II. Whether Joiner was properly sentenced as a habitual offender; and
- III. Whether Joiner was denied effective assistance of counsel.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The trial court properly denied Joiner's petition for post conviction relief. Joiner's guilty plea waived all non-jurisdictional defects in the indictment. A valid guilty plea operates as a waiver of all non-jurisdictional rights or defects to an indictment, and the only exceptions to this rule are if the indictment fails to state an essential element of the crime charged or if there exists no subject matter jurisdiction. *Elliott v. State*, 993 So.2d 397 (Miss.App.2008). Neither of theses exceptions applies under the facts in this case.

Joiner was properly sentenced pursuant to Mississippi Code Annotated section 99-19-81. The State's burden of proof was lessened by Joiner's guilty plea; the State provided sufficient evidence of his habitual status.

Joiner failed to meet the requirements of *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed 2d 674 (1984) in proving his counsel was deficient.

#### ARGUMENT

# PROPOSITION I: JOINER WAS PROPERLY CHARGED AS A HABITUAL OFFENDER.

In his first assignment of error, Joiner contends that he was not properly charged as a habitual offender under Count I of a two count indictment. Joiner asserts he was charged as a habitual offender under Count II of the indictment, felon in possession of a deadly weapon, however, Count II was dismissed pursuant to a plea agreement. Joiner freely admits that the agreement was for him to plead guilty to Count I as a habitual offender pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. Sec. 99-19-81 in exchange for the dismissal of Count II. However, Joiner claims the indictment failed to "fully notif[ied] the defendant of the nature and cause of the accusation." (Appellant's brief at page xiii).

On the day of Joiner's plea and sentencing, defense counsel submitted an agreed motion and order to the court which it subsequently entered, reducing the charge of "felony fleeing lifetime habitual" to that of "felony fleeing maximum habitual." (CP Supp.Vol 1, page 2).

Any non-jurisdictional defect in Joiner's indictment was waived when Joiner entered his voluntary plea of guilty. *Jones v. State*, 878 So.2d 254 (Miss.App.,2004), *Elliott v. State*, 993 So.2d 397, 398 (Miss.App.2008) *Foster v. State*, 716 So.2d 538, 539 (Miss. 1998). The supreme court held in *Brandau v. State*, 662 So.2d 1051 (Miss.1995) that any such defect was one of form, non-jurisdictional and curable by amendment. Failure to object to the form of his indictment waived the issue. *Brandau* at 1054. Having failed to raise this issue at the time of his plea, Joiner waived the issue. See *Buford v. State*, 756 So.2d 815, 816 (¶ 4) (Miss.Ct.App.2000).

Accordingly, this assignment of error is without merit.

## PROPOSITION II: JOINER WAS PROPERLY SENTENCED AS A HABITUAL OFFENDER.

In his second assignment of error, Joiner claims the State failed to prove his habitual offender status for sentencing, as required in section 99-19-81. Joiner cites *Vince v. State*, 844 So.2d 510 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003) to support the requirement of section 99-19-81 that the State carries the burden of proof of all elements of a crime and habitual offender status. The court in *Short v. State*, 929 So.2d 420, 426 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006), agreed that a certified copy of the judgment of conviction is the best evidence to establish habitual offender status. *Vince*, 844 So.2d at 517 (¶22). However, the state is not limited to that form of proof of prior convictions. *Short*, 929 So.2d at 426. Habitual offender status may be established by the defendant's "admission of prior felony convictions." *Id.* at 426, quoting *Sanders v. State*, 786 So.2d 1078, 1082 (¶14) (Miss. Ct. App. 2001); *Jones v. State*, 747 So.2d 249, 252 (Miss. 1999).

In *Evans v. State*, 988 So.2d 404, 405-06 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001), another case cited by Joiner, the defendant relied on *Vince* to support the requirement of Section 99-19-81. The court found that the defendant in *Vince* went to a full trial, whereas the defendant in *Evans*, like Joiner in the present case, pleaded guilty. *Id.* at 405-06. When a defendant pleads guilty, the burden of proof is lessened, and all the trial court needs is "enough [evidence] that the court may say with confidence the prosecution could prove the accused guilty of the crime charged." *Id.*, quoting *Corley v. State*, 585 So.2d 765, 767 (Miss. 1991).

During Joiners' plea colloquy. Judge Howorth asked Joiner the following:

COURT: Mr. Joiner, in Cause Number LK07-133, the Court has before it a

petition to enter a plea of guilty as a lesser habitual offender to the

crime of strong armed robbery. Is that correct?

DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

COURT: And in Cause Number LK07-399, which is, of course, also the State

of Mississippi versus Albert Joiner, Jr., I have a petition to enter a

plea of guilty to the crime of felony fleeing of a law enforcement

officer as a lesser habitual offender. Is that also correct?

DEFENDANT:

Yes, sir.

(CP Supp. Vol. 1, page 5)

. . .

COURT:

Did your attorney go over all the elements of the crimes that you're

pleading guilty to with you and are you telling me that you're guilty

of all of those elements?

DEFENDANT:

Yes, sir.

COURT:

Are you telling me then that you are, in fact, guilty of the crime of

felony fleeing of a law enforcement officer, as well as strong armed

robbery?

DEFENDANT:

Yes, sir.

COURT:

And in each of these two cases also are you telling me that you realize and understand that you qualify for habitual offender status and that you're going to be sentenced, if the Court accepts you guilty plea, as what we call a lesser habitual offender which will mean that the time you receive you will have to serve day-for-day? Do you understand

that?

DEFENDANT:

Yes, sir.

(CP Supp. Vol. 1, page 9, 10)

. . .

COURT:

Now, if the Court accepts your guilty plea in these two cases, they also will go on your record and they will be added to the felonies you already have on your record. You already qualify as a habitual offender, and you will continue to qualify as a habitual offender. Once you get out of the penitentiary, any other felony you're charged with, you can take these charges as well as your other prior felonies, and use them against you to make your punishment worse, to enhance

it. Do you understand what I'm telling you?

**DEFENDANT:** 

Yes, sir.

COURT:

I expect to receive a recommendation in your case, and that's going to be that the Court sentence to you to habitual time. It's 15 years to serve in one case and 4 years to serve in the other case consecutive for

a total of 19 years which will be served as a habitual offender day-for-

day. Do you understand that recommendation?

(CP Supp, Vol. 11).

In Jones, 747 So.2d at 250, the defendant pled guilty as a habitual offender and was

sentenced in accordance with Section 99-19-81. Jones' sworn guilty plea petition, wherein he accepted the accused charges and admitted awareness of his constitutional rights, listed two previous felony convictions. *Id.* In affirming Jones' sentence as a habitual, the Mississippi Supreme Court held the record showed Jones' admission in the petition of "two previous felonies arising out of two separate incidents" was sufficient; the record showed that the defendant was "aware of his eligibility for sentencing as an habitual offender." *Id.* at 252.

Joiner acknowledged that he was pleading guilty as a habitual offender and that he would have to serve day-for-day of the entire 19 year sentence. The Petition to Enter Guilty Plea also acknowledges that Joiner was informed by his lawyer of the "maximum and minimum punishment which the law provides for the offense charged in the indictment." While the guilty plea petition in the case *sub judice* acknowledges that Joiner is pleading guilty to felony fleeing, lesser habitual, it dose not list the prior felony convictions. However, in the petition in Cause Number LK LK07-133, entered at the same time as the case *sub judice*, Joiner listed his prior felony convictions of grand larceny, simple assault on law enforcement officer, attempted armed robbery, and burglary. (Exhibit "A"). This meets the standard applied in *Short*, *Sanders*, and *Jones*.

Joiner pled guilty to the charges and admitted to being a habitual offender, lessening the State's burden of proof. The requirements of Section 99-19-81 were met, and Joiner was properly sentenced. This issue is without merit.

Joiner never alleges he did not know he was pleading guilty to felony fleeing as a habitual offender. Joiner received the benefit of his bargain, the charge of felon in possession of a deadly weapon was dismissed; the armed robbery charge was reduced to strong armed robbery, and he was allowed to plead as a lesser habitual offender under Section 99-19-81 instead of Section 99-19-83. It should be noted that Joiner is also appealing denial of post conviction relief on the armed robbery

charge presently pending before this Court in 2009-CP-220-COA. Joiner should not be allowed to rescind that bargain and still reap the benefits.

# PROPOSITION III: JOINER WAS AFFORDED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

Joiner argues that he received ineffective assistance of counsel. Joiner claims that he could not have been sentenced as a habitual offender under the facts in the record had his attorney not allowed the plea to go forward without proof or evidence of prior convictions to support enhanced punishment. The record does not support Joiner's argument.

This is the same attorney who was able to convince the prosecutor to dismiss a separate charge of possession of a deadly weapon by a convicted felon, reduce an armed robbery charge to strong armed robbery and recommend that Joiner receive a total of 19 years as a lesser habitual under Section 99-19-81, instead of life as a habitual offender under Section 99-19-83.

To prevail on an issue of ineffective assistance of counsel, Joiner must demonstrate that his counsel's performance was deficient and the deficient performance prejudiced his defense. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). Both elements of the test must be proven by the defendant. *Brown v. State*, 626 So.2d 114, 115 (Miss. 1993). "There is a strong, yet rebuttable presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance." *Cole v. State*, 666 So.2d 767, 775 (Miss. 1995) (citing *Frierson v. State*, 606 So.2d 604, 608 (Miss. 1992)). To overcome this presumption, "[t]he defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694, 104

In the context of a guilty plea, Joiner must demonstrate that his counsel's performance fell below the

range of competence demanded of attorney's in criminal cases and that but for the attorney's substandard performance, he would not have been sentenced as a habitual offender. See *Alexander v. State*, 605 So.2d 1170, 1173 (Miss.1992). Joiner wholly fails in his burden of proof. In *Smith v. State*, 636 So.2d 1220 (Miss. 1994), the Mississippi Supreme Court held that when the transcript from court proceedings and the petition for post-conviction relief contradict one another, "the latter is practically rendered a "sham", thus allowing the summary dismissal of the petition to stand." In *Ford v. State*, 708 so.2d 73 (Miss.1998), the court held that a post conviction motion "cannot be supported when the record clearly belies every allegation Petitioner makes in his Post-Conviction Relief Motion."

Joiner was originally represented by a court-appointed attorney and later retained counsel. During the plea colloquy, Judge Howorth asked Joiner:

COURT: And you or your family has retained Mr. Wall?

DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

COURT: And you've had ample opportunity to meet with him and confer with

him about all these charges that you're pleading guilty to?

DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

COURT: And you're satisfied that he has spent the time with you to adequately

and properly represent you and advise you?

DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

COURT: And you're satisfied with his services?

DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

(CP 25-26).

Joiner then admitted to the court that the factual basis for both charges, as recited by the State, was correct. (CP 27-28). The plea hearing transcript negates Joiner's assertions of ineffective assistance of counsel. Based upon a review of the record, Joiner failed to meet both prongs of *Strickland*. Under the Supreme Court's ruling in *Foster v. State*, 716 So.2d 538 (Miss.,1998), this issue is without merit.

### **CONCLUSION**

Based upon the arguments presented herein as supported by the record on appeal, the State would ask this reviewing court to affirm the order of the Circuit Court of Lafayette County denying Albert Joiner, Jr.'s motion for post-conviction relief and request to be re-sentenced without the habitual offender status.